2001

Michael C.W. Hess v. G. Barton Blackstock : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-2a-3 (2)(j) (1953, as amended) (appeals transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court). Mr. Hess appeals the final order and judgment of the Second District Court, in and for Davis County involving the judicial review of an informal administrative hearing.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

(1) Whether the trial erroneously declared the commencement of a driver license division action is exempted as an emergency proceeding pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-20.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

(1) The commencement of a driver license action is commenced by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3; not § 63-46b-20.

We review questions of statutory interpretation for correctness giving no deference to the trial court's interpretation. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1990). See also Chris & Dick's Lumber v. State Tax Comm'n, 791 P.2d 511, 513-14 (Utah 1990) (interpretation of statute or rule is generally accorded no deference on appeal).

Wells v. Wells, 871 P.2d 1036 (Utah Ct. App. 1994); also Hercules, Inc. v. State Tax Comm'n, 877 P.2d 133 (Utah 1994).

STATUTES, RULES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

[Included in Appendix. (App. 1-8)]

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3 (2001)

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-20 (2001)

Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-223 (2001)

Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44.1 (2001)

Utah Adm. Code R708-14-6

STATEMENTS OF FACT FOR THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case:

This is an appeal from a de novo appeal of the Second Judicial District Court affirming the driver's license division suspending Mr. Hess's driving privilege. Mr. Hess was deprived of the statutory right to a proceeding commenced under Section 63-46b-3 (neither the State issued a notice of agency action, nor did Mr. Hess request for an action by the division). Meanwhile, the facts underlying the arrest for Driving Under the Influence were stipulated between the parties. (App. 14)¹

II. Course of the Proceedings:

The parties conducted a de novo trial on May 8, 2001.² During the trial

¹ Mr. Hess is required to reference to an appendix form of record. The trial court refused to allow Mr. Oliver to check out the record for the purpose of the appeal. (See trial court docket—Appendix 11). He has elected to brief with this form of reference to the record to avoid destroying his reputation with the trial judge that seeking an order compelling the release would have caused if counsel pursued the matter before this court.

² A complete transcript of the de novo trial is included in the record and is cited as (App. 12-30).

the court heard arguments relevant to the commencement of the division's action alone. The parties stipulated to the facts of the underlying arrest. (App. 14) and the parties stipulated to the service of the DUI Summons and Citation. (App. 31). The citation is issued by the arresting officer; not a presiding officer. (App. 31).

During the de novo trial, Mr. Oliver argued that the driver license action was wrongfully commenced. (App. 17-20). He argued that in order to comply with the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (hereinafter, the "UAPA"), the division would have to comply with Section 63-46b-3 to be commenced properly (App. 6). The judge took the time to review the UAPA and then argued with counsel that the commencement was pursuant to Section 63-46b-20 (concerning emergency proceedings). (App. 20-24). The trial court's arguments were clearly erroneous, (app. 20), but since he's the judge Mr. Oliver's arguments fell on deaf ears. Thus, this appeal. The court took the matter under advisement then later issued its decision by memorandum decision. (See App. 32-36).

III. Disposition in Trial Court:

The trial court affirmed the division's action against Mr. Hess. The license was to remain suspended pursuant to the Findings Of Fact, Conclusions Of Law And Order. (App. 32-36).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-223 (1953, as amended) and Utah

Code Ann. § 41-6-44.1 (1953, as amended), Utah Law requires the arresting officer to provide personal service upon a person suspected of driving under the influence of alcohol, and it mandates that division to follow Title 63, Chapter 46b of the UAPA. These provisions are in conflict with each other. The Utah Administrative Code, pursuant to R708-14-6 clarifies that the division must follow Section 63-46b-3 when commencing its action. The person service by the officer under Section 53-3-223 does not accomplish the requirements of Section 63-46b-3. This question was presented to the trial judge, and the court avoided the decision by claiming an exemption under Section 63-46b-20. This error by the court was clearly erroneous pursuant to R70-8-14-6.

ARGUMENT

POINT.

THE TRIAL COURT CONCLUDED ERRONEOUSLY THAT A DRIVERS LICENSE ACTION IS COMMENCED UNDER SECTION 63-46b-20 RATHER THAN AS REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 63-46b-3 AS REQUIRED BY LAW.

A. Introduction.

The U.S. Constitution expressly provides, in pertinent part, “No person shall be held to answer . . . nor shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law. . . .” *U.S. Const.* amend. V. Moreover “[n]o State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; not shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal

protection of the laws.” *U.S. Const.* amend. XIV § 1.

The Utah State Constitution expressly provides, “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.” *Utah Const.* art. I, § 7. And “no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.” *Utah Const.* art. I, § 11. Finally, “All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.” *Utah Const.* art. I, § 24.

The Utah Supreme Court, in Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1983), articulated the standards regarding due process, stating, inter alia:

"Due process" is not a technical concept that can be reduced to a formula with a fixed content unrelated to time, place, and circumstances. Rather, "the demands of due process rest on the concept of basic fairness of procedure and demand a procedure appropriate to the case and just to the parties involved." Rupp v. Grantsville City, Utah, 610 P.2d 338, 341 (1980).

Id. In this case, it is quite clear that by denying Mr. Hess's rights were affected by the division and affirmed by the trial judge as it pertained to his right to locomotion (his driver's license privilege).

B. The Deprivation of Right Outside Of Due Process.

In this matter, Mr. Hess contends that he was deprived of his driving privilege outside of the due course of law. In the State of Utah, the Legislature has established the means in which due process rights of drivers are to be administered when the division desired to suspend, revoke, cancel, or disqualify (hereinafter,

“suspend” only) for suspicion of driving under the influence. These procedures were outlined in Utah Code Ann. §§ 41-6-44.1; 53-3-223; 63-46b-3; and R708-14-6 of the Utah Administrative Code.

In this matter, the division failed to follow these provisions as they clearly read. When the division desires to suspend a driver’s license, the division must either act on the request of the intended party or upon notice by the division. Pursuant to Section 63-46-3, proper notice is accomplished by including, inter alia:

- (A). The Notice must be signed by a presiding officer.
- (B). The Names and mailing addresses of all persons to whom notice is being given by the presiding officer, including the driver.
- (C). The agency's “file number”, the file number for the Division is not the Citation Number. It is the D.L. number however, the Notice does provide clear understanding.
- (D). The name of the adjudicative proceeding.
- (E). A statement of whether the adjudicative proceeding is to be conducted informally according to the provisions of rules adopted under Sections 63-46b-4 and 63-46b-5, or formally according to the provisions of Sections 63-46b-6 to 63-46b-11.
- (F). If the adjudicative proceeding is to be formal, a statement that each respondent must file a written response within 30 days of the mailing date of the notice of agency action.

- (G). If the adjudicative proceeding is to be formal, or if a hearing is required by statute or rule, a statement of the time and place of any scheduled hearing, a statement of the purpose for which the hearing is to be held, and a statement that a party who fails to attend or participate in the hearing may be held in default.
- (H). A statement of the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the adjudicative proceeding is to be maintained.
- (I). The name, title, mailing address, and telephone number of the presiding officer.

In this matter, the DUI Summons and Citation fails to provide any of these requirements.

(App. 31). The citation is signed by the arresting officer, not a presiding officer. The notice fails to include the names and addresses of witnesses and other parties to be included in the notice. In order to comply with the UAPA, the division should just automatically set a hearing and provide the accused with notice of the action and of any hearings. Instead, the Summons requires a party to request a hearing. Why should the accused request a hearing? It is not his desire to commence an action against his own civil liberties. If it is the division which desires to suspend, the division must comply with Section 63-46b-3 as required by R708-14-6. In this matter, the division failed to do so, rather the division summarily took action against Mr. Hess, without the benefit of a hearing, as required by the UAPA—the substantive authority which empowers the division to exercise the power to suspend.

As a result of the deficiency, and in view of the substantial policy error the division exercises against the citizens and guests of the State of Utah, Mr. Hess appealed the decision to the Second District Court. The trial judge in the Second District Court, erroneously applied the law during the May 18, 2001 trial de novo. Instead of following the law pursuant to Section 63-46b-3 and R708-14-6, the court elected to argue with Mr. Hess that Section 63-46b-20 applied. The judge's philosophy was that the division's policy must have that the circumstances call for the matter to be treated as an emergency. The judge's decision should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

In this matter, the trial court condoned the division's deprivation of Mr. Hess's right to operate a motor vehicle. The trial court condoned the division's action contrary to the established substantive due process as provided by the law. Therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's decision and its September 5, 2001 order.