2001

Michael C. W. Hess v. G. Barton Blackstock : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Hess appeals from the District Court’s final order entered August 22, 2001, following a trial de novo. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(b)(i) (1997).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

ISSUE: Whether the lower court erred in its ruling that the procedures set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-223 (Supp. 2001), do not violate the Administrative Procedures

Act and do not infringe on Petitioner's rights of due process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: In matters of pure statutory interpretation, an appellate court reviews a trial court's ruling for correctness and gives no deference to its legal conclusions. Stephens v. Bonneville Travel, Inc., 935 P.2d 518, 519 (Utah 1997), State v. Vigil, 842 P.2d 843, 844 (Utah 1992); Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587, 589 (Utah App. 1990).

RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-223. Addendum A

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3. Addendum A

Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-222 (Supp. 2001)

The Legislature finds that the purpose of this title relating to suspension or revocation of a person's license or privilege to drive a motor vehicle for driving with a blood alcohol content above a certain level or while under the influence of alcohol, any drug, or a combination of alcohol and any drug, or for refusing to take a chemical test as provided in Section 41-6-44.10, is protecting persons on highways by quickly removing from the highways those persons who have shown they are safety hazards.

Utah Admin. Code R708-14-6.

(1) In accordance with Subsection 63-46b-3(1), alcohol/drug adjudicative proceedings may be commenced by:

(a) a notice of division action, if the proceedings are commenced by the division; or

(b) a request for division action, if the proceedings are commenced by a person other than the division.

(2) A notice of division action and request for division action shall include the information set forth in Subsections 63-46b-3(2)(a) and (3)(a) respectively. In addition, a request for division action shall include the petitioner's full name, date of birth, and the date of arrest or occurrence which prompted the request for division action. A request for division action that is not made timely, in accordance with Subsections 53-3-223(6)(a), 53-3-231(7)(a)(ii), and 53-3-418(9)(b), will not be granted except for good cause as determined by the division.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Hess was arrested on January 27, 2001 for driving under the influence of alcohol. Appellant's Appendix¹, p. 33. The arresting officer served Hess with a copy of the DUI Summons and Citation which included the Division's notice of its intent to suspend or revoke Hess' driving privilege, his right to a hearing, and basic information on how to request a hearing. Appellant's Appendix p. 31 & 33. No hearing was requested or held. Addendum B, p. 3. Hess' license was suspended for one year effective February 26, 2001, based on a second or subsequent driving under the influence arrest. Appellant's Appendix, p. 33.

Hess appealed that suspension to the Third District Court. Addendum B. In his Petition for review Hess alleged that the Division lacked jurisdiction to suspend his driving privilege because the Division did not comport with section 63-46b-3, Utah Code Ann. Addendum B, p. 3. At the trial de novo, the Parties stipulated that the only issue

¹ Appellant referred to the addendum to his opening brief as Appendices. Accordingly, Appellee cites to Appellant's addendum as an "Appendix."

before the Court was whether the procedure authorized by section 53-3-223, Utah Code Ann. violated the Administrative Procedures Act and denied Hess due process.

Appellant's Appendix, p. 33. The court took the issue under advisement. On June 20, 2001, Judge Page issued a Ruling on Appeal where he concluded that the procedures set up by section 53-3-223 are in the nature of emergency actions and are therefore exempt from the requirements of section 63-46b-3. Addendum C, p. 2. Therefore, he ruled that the procedures set forth in section 53-3-223 do not violate the Administrative Procedures Act and do not infringe on Plaintiff's rights of due process. Addendum C, p. 3. The District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and final order was entered and by the court on September 5, 2001. Appellant's Appendix, p. 32 & 35. An Amended Notice of Appeal was filed by Hess on October 2, 2001.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On January 27, 2001, Hess was arrested for driving while under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs. Appellant's Appendix, p. 33.

2. The arresting officer served Hess with a copy of the DUI Summons and Citation which included the Division's notice of intent to suspend or revoke Hess' driving privilege and his right to a hearing before the revocation became effective. Appellant's Appendix, p. 33.

3. Hess did not request a hearing. Appellant's Brief, p.3; Addendum B.

4. Petitioner's license was suspended for one year effective February 26, 2001

based on a second or subsequent driving under the influence arrest. Appellant's Appendix, p. 33.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court's ruling that the procedures set forth in section 53-3-223, Utah Code Ann. do not violate the Administrative Procedures Act is correct. In looking at the plain language of the statutes, the requirements mandated by section 63-46b-3, Utah Code Ann. do not apply to notices of intent to suspend served pursuant to section 53-3-223.

By failing to raise his due process claim in the trial court, Hess waived his claim that the U.S. Constitution mandates the use of the requirements set forth in section 63-46b-3(2). Additionally, Hess has failed to adequately brief his due process claim on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT THE PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN SECTION 53-3-223 DO NOT VIOLATE THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT.

Hess, at the trial de novo and in his opening brief, argues that the Division's notice of intent to suspend or revoke and the basic information regarding how to obtain a hearing which the arresting officer served on him pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-223 (Supp. 2001) violated his rights to due process because the notice of intent did not comply with the requirements set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3 (Supp. 2001). Hess further argues that sections 53-3-223 and 63-46b-3 are in conflict, but that section 63-

46b-3 controls. As such, Hess argues, the Division's action suspending his driver license was not properly commenced and the suspension should be set aside. However, this argument is erroneous and lacks any legal basis.

The primary goal when interpreting a statute ‘ “is to give effect to the legislature’s intent in light of the purpose that the statute was meant to achieve.”’ Biddle v. Washington Terrace City, 1999 UT 1107, 993 P.2d 875, 879 (Utah 1999)(*quoting* Evans v. Utah, 963 P.2d 177, 184 (Utah 1998)). The courts look “first to the plain language of a statute when deciding questions of statutory interpretation and assumes that each term was used advisedly by the Legislature.” Id. (citation omitted). “Statutory construction presumes that the expression of one should be interpreted as the exclusion of another.” Id. (citation omitted). ‘Omissions in statutory language should “be taken note of and given effect.”’ Id. (*quoting* Kennecott Copper Corp v. Anderson, 514 P.2d 217, 219 (1973).) In circumstances “where the operation of two statutory provisions are in conflict, the more specific provision will govern over that which is more general.” Id. (citations omitted).

In looking at the plain language of sections 53-3-223 and 63-46b-3, these statutes are not in conflict. Section 53-3-223 gives the Division authority to suspend an individual’s license for driving a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs and sets forth the requirements that must be met before the Division can suspend a license. In order for the Division to obtain jurisdiction to suspend, section 53-3-223

requires that the arresting officer serve on the arrested individual notice of the Division's intent to suspend or revoke and basic information on how to obtain a hearing. Mabus v. Blackstock, 1999 UT App 389, 994 P.2d 1272, 1275. Specifically, section 53-3-223(3) requires that the arresting officer serve on the person, on behalf of the division, immediate notice of the division's intention to suspend the person's license to drive a motor vehicle. Section 53-3-223(4) requires that when the officer serves immediate notice on behalf of the division he shall also take the Utah license certificate or permit, if any, of the driver, issue a temporary license certificate effective for only 29 days, supply to the driver, on a form to be approved by the division, basic information regarding how to obtain a prompt hearing before the division. This Court in Mabus further ruled that if the Division fails to present evidence that the officer served the statutory required immediate notice of the Division's intent to revoke along with basic information on how to obtain a hearing on the matter, the administrative action of suspension or revocation is null and void. Mabus, 994 P.2d at 1275. This court in Mabus neither referred to nor addressed any of the requirements set forth in section 63-46b-3(2). Id.

Section 63-46b-3(2), on the other hand, sets forth the requirements for notices of agency action, if the action is commenced by the agency and requests for agency action, if the action is requested by the individual. Section 63-46b-3(2) requires that,

- (a) The notice of agency action shall be in writing, signed by a presiding officer, and shall include:
 - (i) the names and mailing addresses of all persons to whom notice is being given by the presiding officer, and the

name, title, and mailing address of any attorney or employee who has been designated to appear for the agency;

(ii) the agency's file number or other reference number;

(iii) the name of the adjudicative proceeding;

(iv) the date that the notice of agency action was mailed;

(v) a statement of whether the adjudicative proceeding is to be conducted informally according to the provisions of rules adopted under Sections 63-46b-4 and 63-46b-5, or formally according to the provisions of Sections 63-46b-6 to 63-46b-11;

(vi) if the adjudicative proceeding is to be formal, a statement that each respondent must file a written response within 30 days of the mailing date of the notice of agency action;

(vii) if the adjudicative proceeding is to be formal, or if a hearing is required by statute or rule, a statement of the time and place of any scheduled hearing, a statement of the purpose for which the hearing is to be held, and a statement that a party who fails to attend or participate in the hearing may be held in default;

(viii) if the adjudicative proceeding is to be informal and a hearing is required by statute or rule, or if a hearing is permitted by rule and may be requested by a party within the time prescribed by rule, a statement that the parties may request a hearing within the time provided by the agency's rules;

(ix) a statement of the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the adjudicative proceeding is to be maintained;

(x) the name, title, mailing address, and telephone number of the presiding officer; and

(xi) a statement of the purpose of the adjudicative proceeding and, to the extent known by the presiding officer, the questions to be decided.

(b) When adjudicative proceedings are commenced by the agency, the agency shall:

(i) mail the notice of agency action to each party;

(ii) publish the notice of agency action, if required by statute; and

(iii) mail the notice of agency action to any other person who has a right to notice under statute or rule.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3(2) (Supp. 2001). Hess' argument incorrectly assumes that a

“notice of intent to suspend” as addressed in section 53-3-223 is the same as a “notice of agency action” as addressed in section 63-46b-3. As stated above, courts look “first to the plain language of a statute when deciding questions of statutory interpretation and assumes that each term was used advisedly by the Legislature.” Biddle, 993 P.2d at 879. Had the legislature intended sections 53-3-223 and 63-46b-3 to address the same type of notices they would have used the same term to define both notices, but it did not. Additionally, if the legislature intended the notices of intent to suspend or revoke to also comply with the requirements of 63-46b-3(2) it would have plainly stated as such, which it also did not. Notices of intent to suspend or revoke are served on the arrested individual prior to the Division taking any agency action and prior to the request of agency action by the arrested individual. In fact, Utah Administrative Code, R708-14-6(2) states that “a request for division action that is not made timely, in accordance with Subsections 53-3-223(6)(a), . . . will not be granted except for good cause as determined by the division.” The notice of intent to suspend or revoke contains the requirements of subsection 53-3-223(6)(a). See Appellant’s Appendix p. 31.

Clearly the legislature did not intend to require the initial notices of intent to include all of the requirements set forth in section 63-46b-3(2). To require such would defeat the purpose of the driving under the influence statute. Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-222 (Supp. 2001) states the purpose of the statutes relating to suspension or revocation of a person’s license for driving while under the influence of alcohol “is protecting persons on

highways by quickly removing from the highways those persons who have shown they are safety hazards.” As this court has previously noted,

“The purpose of the entire drunken driving statutory scheme is to expeditiously remove drunken drivers from Utah’s roads. Thus, time is of the essence in the statutory scheme when considered as a whole and substantial rights could depend on compliance with the . . . requirement [of service of immediate notice and basic information].”

Mabus, 994 P.2d at 1275 (*quoting Moore v. Schwendiman*, 750 P.2d 204, 205 (Utah App. 1988)). It is impracticable, if not impossible, for the notices of intent to contain all of the section 63-46b-3(2) requirements. It would be impossible for the Division to expeditiously remove drunken drivers from the road if its notice of intent to suspend must contain all of the information required by section 63-46b-3(2). This court has stated that “we interpret a statute to avoid absurd consequences and to arrive at a reasonable and sensible construction.” Brixen & Christopher Architects v. State of Utah, 2001 UT App 210, 29 P.3d. 650, 656 (Utah App. 2001). If the notices of intent pursuant to section 53-3-223 are required to contain all of the requirements of 63-46b-3(2) there would definitely be absurd consequences. The main consequence would be that the Division would be unable to serve the notice of intent on the individual at the time of arrest, because the Division would not know all of the information section 63-46b-3(2) requires.

Even though Utah courts have not directly addressed this issue, in their decisions they have yet to treat a notice of intent to suspend as a notice of a hearing/agency action

or request for a hearing. As previously stated, this court in Mabus ruled that service of the Division's intent to suspend or revoke and basic information on how to obtain a hearing, pursuant to section 53-3-223, is the initiatory event that confers jurisdiction on the Division. Mabus, 994 P.2d at 1275. Prior to this court's ruling in Mabus, and the statutory change in section 53-3-223, the initiatory event that conferred jurisdiction on the Division was arresting officer's mailing of the sworn DUI report form to the Division within five days of the arrest. Mabus, 994 P.2d at 1274; Moore, 750 P.2d at 205-207. Hess has cited no case authority which mandates that the event which confers jurisdiction on the Division must meet the requirements of section 63-46b-3. In Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587, 589 (Utah 1990), this court looked at whether the Division's notice of hearing complied with section 63-46b-3, where the notice of hearing failed to include whether the hearing was formal or informal. A notice of hearing is not the same as the notice of intent to suspend or revoke. Once the notice of intent to suspend or revoke is served upon an individual arrested for driving under the influence, it is up to him to request a hearing within ten days of his arrest. Utah Code Annotated § 53-3-223(6)(a) (Supp. 2001). If the individual requests a hearing/agency action, then the Division sends out the notice of hearing. If no hearing is requested the Division may, on its own, take action to suspend or revoke the individual's license. Utah Code Ann. § 53-3-223 (Supp. 2001).

In looking at the drunken driving statutory scheme as a whole the most practicable.

reasonable interpretation of sections 53-3-223 and 63-46b-3 is that the Division's notice of intent to suspend or revoke does not need to include all of the requirements set forth in 63-46b-3(2).

II. BY FAILING TO RAISE IT IN THE TRIAL COURT
HESS WAIVED ANY CLAIM THAT THE U.S.
CONSTITUTION MANDATES THE REQUIREMENTS
SET FORTH IN SECTION 63-46B-3(2).

Hess in his opening brief, argues that the U.S. Constitution mandates the requirements set forth in section 63-46b-3. However, the general rule is that claims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal. State v Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346, 350. The preservation rule applies to every claim, including constitutional questions. Id. At the trial de novo, Hess failed to raise a constitutional due process claim. As such, he can not raise a due process claim on appeal. Appellant's Appendix, pp. 13-29.